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keeper Alliance v. BNSF Railway Company

THE HONORABLE JOHN C. COUGHENOU

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

AT SEATTLE
PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCEa CASE NO.C09-10873CC
non-profit corporation
ORDER

Plaintiff,
V.

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Defendant.

This matter comes before the CourtRiaintiff's motions for summary judgment (Dkt.
Nos. 72, 73), Defendant’s response (Dkt. No. 82), and Plaintiff's reply (Dkt. No. 88.). Hav
thoroughly considered the parties’ briefing and the relevant record, thegCanid the first
motion and grants in part and denies in part the second motion for the reasons explained
l. BACKGROUND

Defendant owns and operates a railrbatisportation facility in the Interbay neighborhoog

! Local Rule 7(e)(3) state$viotions for summary judgment . . . shall not exceed twel
four pages. . . . The filing of multiple dispositive motions to avtieepage limits of this rule is
strongly discouraged and successive motions may be stri¢kiamitiff filed two successive
motions for summary judgment, each containing twéivg/substantive pages atataling fifty
substantive pagefkt. Nos.72, 73.) However, Plaintiff did not file a motion requesting
permission to file an over-length motion. The Court is inclined to strike both motions. How
due to the impending trial date, the Court will not do so. However, Plaintiff is warnedtagai
such flagrant disregard of the local rules in the future.
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of Seattle, Washington. (Dkt. No. 44 at 4.) Plaintiff, an environmental nonprofit organization
dedicated to tracking down and stopping the discharge of toxic pollutants into the Gumt S
alleges thaDefendant violated the Clean Water Act (CWA) by discharging pollutants into the
navigable surface waters of the stakd. &t 3, 8.) The Court discusses Plaintiffs’ claims and
allegations, as well as the underlying statutory structure, in detail in Visyseorder. $ee Dkt. No.
43.)

. DISCUSSION

Summary judgment is appropriate when “there is no genuine dispute as to any material

fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of the law.” Fed. R. CivaP A66(

defendants entitled to move for summary judgment by alleging that the nonmoving party has

failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of his or he€Celatex Corp. v.
Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1985). To overcome such a motion, the plaieif ithe burden of]
producing evidence with respect to the identifsdement; the plaintiff's response must set ou
specific facts showing a genuine issue for tgaé Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2)One of the
principal purposes of the summagunggment rulas to isolate and dispose of factually
unsupported claims or defenseGélotex, 477 U.Sat 323.

A. Unpermitted Discharges

Plaintiff requests that the Court grant summary judgment finding that Defendant vi
section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. 8§ 1311(pHdischarging stormwater associated with
industrial activity since November 3, 2009, and that these violations occurred on ssganty-
specific dates.See Dkt. No. 72.) Defendant admits these violations and concedes that the
should grant Plaintiff's motion. (Dkt. No. 82 at 6.) Accordingly, the Court grants Flaint
summary judgment that Defendant violated section 301(a) of the CWA by jsaha
stormwater associated with industrial activities from its Balmer arthe seventy-eight days
specfied in Plaintiff’'s motion However, the Court does not at this time determine the amot

penalty to be imposed for those violations.
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B. NPDES Permit Violations

Plaintiff also moves for summary judgment finding that Defendant violated section$

301(a) and 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. 8§ 1311(a), 1342, by violating the term$lafidsal
Pollutant Discharge Elimination SysteMRDES permit. See Dkt. No. 73.)
1. 2001 Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s 208tormwatePollution Prevention PlarSWWPPR

failed to comply with the 2002 General Permit for a number of reasons. (Dkt. No. 73 at 7-¢

The2002 General Permit requires the SWPPP to include a stormwater samplitigaplan
identifies points of discharge, includes a discussion of how the permittee deténvhich
points of discharge to monitor, and indicates who will conduct the sampling, wherenilesa
will be taken, and the parameters for analysis. (Dkt. No. 74-2 at 2; Dkt. No. 74-4 at iitiff P
contends that Defendant’'s 2001 SWPPP does not include a stormwater sampling plan. (L
73 at 8.) Upon reviewing Defendant’s 2001 SWPPP, the Court does not see a stormwate
sampling plan includedSée Dkt. No. 75-1 at 92-102.) Defendant does not respond to this
allegationand has not shown that a genuine issue for trial esgst$ed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2).
The Court grants Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment that Defendant’s 2001 BWPP
violated the 2002 permitsy not including a stormwater sampling plan.

The 2002 General Permit and Modified General Permit require that visual nmanher
done at least quarterly. (Dkt. No. 74-1 at 25; Dkt. No3&-20.) Plaintiffs allege that
Defendant’'s SWPPP did not meet these requirements, because Defendant’s SWPPP onl
for one visual inspection during a stormwater discharge each year. (Dkt. No. 7B@w8yer,
Defendant submithe declaration of Marsi Beestimat certifies that Ms. Beeson reviewed
Defendant'secords and found that Defendant had an inspection report for every quarter
and, for those two quarters, Defendant submitted discharge monitoring reports.dD&I 2\at
5.) While the permits require the SWPPP to include a monitoring plan, the permits do not

that the SWPPP must exptigistate that quarterly visual inspections must oc&ge Dkt. No.
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74-2 at 39; Dkt. No. 74-4 at 11.) Rather, the permits simply provide that quarterly visual
monitoring must occur. (Dkt. No. 74-1 at 25; Dkt. No. 74-3 at 20.) While Defendant’'s SWH
does not explicitly state that quarterly visual inspections will occur, Ms oB&edeclaration
indicates that they did indeed occur. (Dkt. No. 87-2 at 5.) Thus, Defendant only violated tf
permit requirements if the visual inspections did not occur quarterly. This igialfdispute ang
the Court declines to exercise summary judgment.

The permits require the SWPPP to include an inventory of industrial activities that
identifies the areas associated with industrial activities, including outdwagstof naterials
and vehicle and equipment fueling, maintenance and cleaning. (Dkt. No. 74-2 at 1; 74-4 &
Plaintiff alleges that Defendant2001 SWPPP violated the permits by only vaguely mentior
certain categories of industrial activities without fully identifying the activities or where the
occur, by not having ups-date information on caboo$eeling activities near the hump track,
and by not mentiong directto-locomotive fueling. (Dkt. No. 73 at 8- for the
identification of areas where thatdoor storage of materials occurr@ekfendant cites the
Department of Ecology’s deposition testimony that material storage areas were not cover
the 2002 permits. (Dkt. No. 87-1 at 13.) Thus, there is a factual dispute as to whether
Defendant’'s 2001 SWPPP was required to identify storage areas, and the Cnes decl
exercise summary judgment on that issue.

Defendant maintains that its 2001 SWPPP did not violate the 2002 permits, becau
Section 3.1 identifies the industrial activities at Balmardrto be railcar maintenance, caboo
fueling, and material storage, because the 2001 SWPPP identifies the Fhmilityriel becauseg
Sections 4.4 and Table 4-2 of the 2001 SWPPP provide further description of the areas.
No. 82 at 14.) The Court coludes that there is a factual dispute as to whether these descr
were sufficient to comply with the permits. Accordingly, the Court declinesatt gummary
judgment.

Plaintiff alleges that the SWPPP was nottojulate because it refers to caboose fuelir]
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near the hump track when Defendant discontinued that activity around 1995. (Dkt. No. 73
However, Defendant maintains that there is conflicting information about the cdbelnseg,
and that the above-ground storage tank and piping remained, and the tank was only take
service in 2008. (Dkt. No. 87-2 at 6.) Accordingly, a factual dispute remains and the Cour
declines to grant summary judgment.

Plaintiff alleges thathe SWPPP is deficient in not mentioning dir@etocomotive
fueling that has occurred at Balmer Yard sih®80. (Dkt. No. 73 at 9.) Defendant does not
respond to this allegation and has not shown that a genuine issue for trialSegised. R. Civ.
P. 56(e)(2). The Court grants summary judgment that Defendant’s 2001 SWPR#\tiedat
permits by not mentioning diretd-locomotive fueling.

The permits requirethe SWPPP to include an inventory of materials listing the type
materialshandled at the site that could potentially result in stormwater pollution and avearr
for each material describing the potential of the pollutant to be present in stiemascharges
(Dkt. No. 74-2 at 2; Dkt. No. 74-at 10.) Plaintiff alleges th&@tefendant’s 2001 SWPPP did n
include the necessary materials inventaith the required narrative. (Dkt. No. 73 at Bigure
4.2 of the 2001 SWPPP provides a list of materials potentially exposed to stormidletted.
75-1 at 91.) However, the Court finds no narrative in the 2001 SWPPP describing the pot
the pollutant to be present in stormwater discharges. Defendant does not respond to this
allegation and has not shown that a genuine issue for trial eSastSed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2).
Thus, the Court grants summary judgment that Defendant’'s 2001 SWPPP violated the Ipg
not providing the required narrative.

The permits also require best management practices (BMPs) that describe the sch
frequency for all good-housekeeping and preventiagatenance activitieand that indicate
specific individuals by name who are part of the pollution prevention team. (Dkt. Ncat73t-2
Dkt. No. 74-4 at 12.) Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s 2001 SWPPP did not comply with t

permits becausé only vaguely stated that “periodic” inspections to identify leakse
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conducted and that catch basivere“regularly” inspected and because it did not identify the
members of the pollution prevention team. (Dkt. No. 73 at 9.) Defendant responelseto th
allegations by stating that the permits did not require any more specificity than a stateme
“schedule/frequency” and that the facts show that the inspections occurrelgu@dkt. No.
82 at 15.) However, the Court concludes that the téregsilarly” and “periodic” are not
sufficiently specific statements of the schedule or frequency of ingpsctWhile the evidence
shows that the inspections likely actually occurred quarterly, the 2001 SWPP® lsénaei|
affirmatively indicated that thenspections occurred quarterly. The Court grants Plaintiff
summary judgment on the issue. Additionally, Defendant maintains that its inspegtorts
were signed by inspectors, so it complied with the permits. However, the 2001 SWRBRBtd
indicate speific individuals by namethatwere part of the pollution prevention team.
Accordingly, the Court grants Plaintiff summary judgment on the issue.

The permits also required the use of volume-control BMPs and treatment BMPs in
certain circumstances andjtered SWPPPs to include a narrative describing how the perm
determined if treatment and volurm®ntrol BMPs were or were not required. (Dkt. No.2Z7dt
4; Dkt. No. 74-4 at 13 Plaintiff maintains that Defendant’s 2001 SWPPP violated the perm
beause it only stated that it did not use volucoestrol or treatment BMPs at its facility and d
not include the required narrative. (Dkt. No. 73 at 10.) Defendant argues that it was metre
to include narratives becauise facility was not in a Leuelhree Response and was not a ney
development or redevelopment. (Dkt. No. 82 at 15.) Defendant’s arguetieston an
inaccurate reading @ahe permits. If Defendant was indeed not resghiio have treatment or
volume-control BMPs for the reasons it states, Defendant was at the miniouinedeio have 3
narrative explaining the reasons it was not so required. (Dkt. No. 74-2 at 4; Dkt. No. 74-4
Defendant failed to include the required narratives on volume control and treatmiest Biw
Court grams Plaintiff summary judgment.

The permits requirethat an SWPPP be signed by either an executive officer of at Ig
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the level of vice president or a “duly authorized representati®ee’@kt. No. 74-1 at 37; Dkt.
No. 74-2 at 10-11; Dkt. No. 74-4 at 7; Dkt. No.54t 2-3.) A “duly authorizd representative’
was a person who had written authorization to Ecology from an officer of at leagtdhe
president level and who had overall operational or environmental responsibilit fiactlity.
(Dkt. No. 74-2 at 10-11; Dkt. No. 78-at 2-3.) Jennifer Wiener (formerly Anderson) signed
Defendant’'s 2001 SWPPP. (Dkt. No. I%t 78.) Plaintiff alleges that Jennifer Wiereigning
of the SWPPP violated the permits becausensigneither an executive officer nor a duly
authorized representative. (Dkt. No. 73 at 10.) To rebut this argument, Defendant points
letter dated June 30, 1997, from David M. Smith, Manager of Environmental Remediation
Ecology, informing Ecology that Ms. Wiener was assuming the Manager of Enentaim
Operations position. (Dkt. No. 4.) However, Mr. Smith was not of at least the level of vice
president of the corporation, so Mr. Smith could not make the authorization. In July 2009,
A. Schulze, the Vice President of Safety, Training and Operations Support sést i@ let
Ecology authorizing Ms. Wiener to sign environmental permits and reports. (Dkt. ND9§5 3
Mr. Schulze’s letter properly served to make Ms. Wiener a “duly authorizessmefative.”
However,until then, Ms. Wiener was not a “duly authorized representative.” The Court grg
Plaintiff summary judgment that Ms. Wiener’s signing of the 2001 SWPPP violatpdrinés.
2. Defendant’'s 2005 SWPPP

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant2005 SWPPRimilarly violated the Modified 2002
General Permit-the effective permit for the entire life of the 2005 SWPPP. (Dkt. No. 73 at
The 2002modified permit requird an SWPPP to include a site map tvasdrawn to an
identified scale oncludedrelative distances between significant structuresdaathage
systems and that showed the stormwater drainage and discharge features)enfdhti
stormwater drainage areas for each discharge point, paved areas and buildisgd, @wlutant
contact, and vehicle service areas. (Dkt. No47&-9-10.) Plaintiff alleges that thgte map in

the 2005 SWPPP did not meet any of those requirements. (Dkt. No. 73 at 11.) Defendant
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responds to this allegatioly maintaining that the map showedhinagedirection, catch basins,
and notes the discharge point. (Dkt. No. 82 at 15.) Thus, a factual question exists as to W
the 2005 SWPPP map adequately demonstrated the stormwater drainage and discharge
and an outline of the stormwater drainage areas for each discharge point. AdgotttenGourt
denies summary judgment on those issues. The Court grants summary juthginBetendant’s
2005 SWPPP failed to include a site map that drawn to scaler includerelative distances
and that shoed paved areas and buildings, areas of pollutant contact, and vehicle service

The permit required SWPPPs to include an inventory of industrial activities that
identified all areas associated with industrial activity, including the oustoorge of raterials,
vehicle and equipment fueling and maintenance, and roofs or other surfaces composed g
materials that may be mobilized by stormwater, such as galvanized(fkifsNo. 74-4 at 10.)
Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP failed to thest requirementsecause the
SWPPP only mentioned that dirdotlocomotive fueling and raitar maintenance occurrdalut
did not identify where they occurred, because the SWPPP does not discuss the a0t
materials associatewith raikcar mantenance or fueling, and because the galvanized roof o
car shop was not identified. (Dkt. No. 73 at 11-12.) As discussed above, a factual dispute
as to whether the 2002 permits covered material storage at a transportation facility. Acgo
the Court declines to exercise summary judgment on that issue. However,dd¢fdoes not
respond the Plaintiff's allegations that it failed to identify the galvanizefdafathe car shop an
did not identify where diredb-locomotive fueling and raitar maintenance occurrddefendant
has not shown that a genuine issue for trial ex@stsFed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2).The Court gran|
summary judgment on those claims.

The 2002 Modified Permit required an SWPPP to include an inventory of materialg
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handkd at the site with a narrative describing the potential for each pollutant to be present in the

stormwater discharges, as well as the method and location of storage. (Dkt.4Nat. 7@.)

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP violated the pbymmbt including the required
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narratives and by not mentioning certain sources of potentially pollutingialsitsuch as a 50
gallon gasoline tank. (Dkt. No. 73 at 12.) Defendant notes that the 2008 amétalthen

SWPPP included the 500-gallon gasoline tank and that it was likely not present when the
SWPPP was prepared. (Dkt. No. 82 at 15-16.) A factual dispute exists as to whetheslthe

tank was present in 2005, so the Court declines to exercise summary judgment. Del@esiant

not respond to the contention that its 2005 SWPPP lacked the required narratives for irofé
materials Defendant fails to show that a genuine issue for trial exdetd=ed. R. Civ. P.
56(e)(2).The Court grants Plaintiff summary judgment on this issue.

The permit required Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP to include a monitoring plan that
identified all points of discharge to surface waters or storm drain systemsieodission of
how Defendant selected which points to sampleeans to estimate the volume/rate of
discharge from each discharge point, differences in exposure to pollutants, polik&ynto be
in each discharge, and a relative comparison of probably pollutant concentrationsldDid-4
at 11.) Plaintiff contends that Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP did not include any of thedequire
evaluations and provided contradictions on where samna@escollected from and did not
provide upto-datesampling location informatior(Dkt. No. 73 at 13.) Defendant disputke
argumenthat it contradicted itself with regard to the sampling, stating that in times of hea
precipitation, one sampling location was used, while, at other times, a differatndhowas
used. (Dkt. No. 82 at 16.) A factual dispute exists, so the Court denies summary judgrhen
issue. Defendarttoes not rebut the other allegations that its SWPPP did not include the re
evaluations. The Court grants summary judgment.

The Modified 2002 General Permit required Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP to include |
for cleanup equipment and procedures for ditedbcomotive fueling activities. (74 at 48.)
Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP failed to include the required gtanN¢ 73
at 13-15.) Defendant rebuts these allegations, stating that the BW#Ri?ences and “essentia

incorporates” the Spill Prevention, Control and Containment Plan, whstdintsincludes the
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required information. (Dkt. No. 82 at 16.) However, the spill plans provided by Defendant
not mention directe-locomotive fueling and were not actually included as part of the 2005
SWPPP (See Dkt. Nos. 89-1 & 82.) The Court grants Plaintiff summary judgment that
Defendant’'s 2005 SWPPP violated the permit by failing to include BMPs for clegoypment
and procedures for dirett-locomotive fueling activities.

Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP violated the permit by failing tc
include the following mandatory BMPs, or alternativdly failing to provide a narrative on wh
those BMPs were unnecessafy) a BMP to inspect for leaks in all incoming vehicles, parts,
equipment; (2) a BMP to conduct vehicle and equipment maintenance and repairs in a bu
or other covered impervious area; (3) the BMPs required for mobile fuelingiopserd4) a
BMP requirnglargemobile equipment be parked in designated contained areas; and (5)
treatment BMPs for the staging and maintenance areas around the Car Shop and other g
are susceptible to leaks or spills. (Dkt. No. 73 at 13—-15.) Defendant does not tesihase
allegations and has not shown that a genuine issue for trial &estsed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2).
The Court grants summary judgment.

Finally, Plaintiff alleges that the 2005 SWPPP violated the permit becausith dise
2001 SWPPP, only Jennifé/iener signed th2005 SWPPP. (Dkt. No. 73 at 15.) As discussq
previously, Ms. Wiener was not authorized to sign an SWPPP until 2009. Accordingly, the
grants summary judgment that Defendant’s 2005 SWPPP violated the 2002 Modified Per

3. Stormwater Sampling

The permits required Defendant to collect and analyze a sample of its stormwater
discharges each calendar quarter beginning with the second quarter of22808t(No. 74-1
at23-16; Dkt. No. 74-3 at 15-17, 20-22.) The 2002 General Perntéined stringent criteria
for when samples should be taken, including a minimum of .1 inches of rain in a 24-hour

that is preceded by a 2wur period of no measurable rain. (Dkt. No. 74-1 at 23-F2&ittees

were not required to sample outside of regular business hours or during unsafe conditians.
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23.) In 2004, Ecology modiféethe permit requirements to change the storm event criteria
requirements to guidelines, allowing a permittee whose sample did not meet all of the crit
insteal include an explanatioof what criteria were not met and why. (Dkt. No. 74-3 at 16-1
The reason for this change was the difficulty that permittees had in collecting stornumnatér
samples that met all of the criteria. (Dkt. No-4&t 78—79.)Themodification went into effect
in January 2005. Thus, from January 2005 on, the permit required Defendant to collect a
stormwater sample each calendar quarter if there was sufficient precipitation anytimelrdur
quarter to collect a sample.

Plaintiff dleges that Defendant violated the sampling requirements of the 2002 Mo
Permit by only collecting samples in five of the nineteen quarters betwearsttypiérter of
2005 and the third quarter of 2009. (Dkt. No. 73 at 16.) Plaintiff tit€efendant’s Discharge
Monitoring Reports (DMRs) from that time periadsupportfor its allegations(Dkt. No. 75-2
at 18-41.) Plaintiff also points a warning letter that Ecology sent to Defendant after Defer
did not take a single sample in 2005. (Dkt. No. 75-4 at 48-P4&intiff's expert on stormwater
management compared the amounts of precipitation on the days that Defendant actually
collectedsamples to the amount of precipitation on different days in the quarters in which
Defendant failed to collect samples. (Dkt. No. 76 at 10-12.) Plaintiff's expertuctaacthat
there was ample precipitation for sampling purposes in each of the fourtaégrgjthat
Defendant failed to sample its dischardd.)(Additionally, Plaintiff's expert concluded that th
chances of there being no opportunity to sample during daytime, weekday hours ihadkof
guarters was minisculel.d)

Defendant defendssielf by saying that it was exempt from collecting samples outsid

regular business hours or during unsafe conditions. (Dkt. No. 82 at 9.) However, the permit

defines “regular business hours” as the times that the “facility is engaged in its primary
production process” and requiregilities that operate 24/7 to be prepared to sample “at all

times.” (Dkt. No. 89-3 at 5.) Defendant does not contest that its facility operates 24/7.
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Accordingly, the permit required Defendant to be prepared to sampldiates] Defendant’s
sweeping contention, without any factual support, that it would be unsafe to conduchgan
night is unpersuasive. Furthermore, Defendastsdot rebut Plaintiff's expert statement that
there was ample rainfall during daytime, weak hours for collectiorDefendant further argue
that some of the gaps in sampling collection resulted because Defendant wasreyahd
changing sampling methods and locations. (Dkt. No. 82 at 10.) If that were trued&wfe
should have included such an explanation with their DMRs. (Dkt. No. 75-4 at 79.) Howev
only three of the DMRs during the time period include such an explangeDKt. No. 75-2
at 18-41.) The DMR for the first quarter of 2005 indicates that the sampling point was beit
relocated because no discharge was observed during qualifying rain events. (Dkt.2Nad. 75
18.) This same explanation cow@dyuablyapply to the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2
because the sampling point had not been moved yet. The DMR for the fourth quarter of 2
the first quarter of 2009 indicate that sampling did not occur because the starcomaEyance

line was plugged due to recent construction but that construction of a new sampling port

underway. (Dkt. No. 75-2 at 38-39.) HiDefendantreates a factual question as to whether

not it complied in the first, second, third, and fourth quarters of 2005, the fourth quarter of
and the first quarter of 2009. The Court denies summary judgment that Defendand viwate
samping requirements for those quarters. The Court grants Plaintiff summary judgment th
Defendant violated the permits by not conducting sampling in the second, third, and fourt
guarters of 2006, the first and second quarters of 2007, the second and third quarters of !
the second quarter of 2009, because Defendant has not demonstrated that a genuine fag
dispute exists.

Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant violated the permits by having Ms. Wiener sig
DMRs. (Dkt. No. 73 at 17.) As discussed above, Ms. Wiener was not authorized with gign

authority until July 2009. Therefore, Defendant violated the permits by having onkyidser

sign its DMRs from the second quarter of 2003 through the first quarter of 2009. The Court
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grants PlaintiffSsummary judgment.
4. Visual Monitoring Requirement

The 2002 Modified General Permit required Defendant to conduct several typesabf
monitoring. The permit required visual monitoring of stormwater discharges eatérgidhe
location of stormwater sampling, and all discharge locations that were not damepéeto be
visually inspected at least annually during a storm event. (Dkt. N8.af£7.) Those
inspections were to monitor for various discharge characteristics and nmidetevhether the
SWPPP was accurate, current, properly implemented, and adetghiafEh¢ permit also
required a dry season inspection each year to determine if arstaranwater discharges were
present in the stormwater systehal The permit required the results of all visual monitoring
be recorded in a report signed by the person making the observations and then reviewed
“duly authorized representative,” including a certification by that persarthie facility was in
compliancewith the SWPPP and the permitd.(at 2728.) Additionally, the permit required
Defendant to retain tls@ records for a minimum of five years and throughout the course of
litigation. (d. at 29.)

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant violated the permit by failing to visually monitor its
discharges and/or by failing to document such monitoring in the fourth quarter of 2005 an
third quarter of 2006. (Dkt. No. 73 at 18.) Defendant testified that Exhibit 56 from the dap
included all of its visual monitoring records. (Dkt. No. 75-6 at 140—41.pYestual monitoring
reportis missing for the fourth quarter of 2005 and the only monitoring report for the third
quarter of 2006 does not include any indication that visual monitoring occueedKt. No.
75-3 at 247.) Defendant does not respond to these allegations and has not shown that a
issue for trial existsSee Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2). Accordingly, the Court grants Plaintiff
summary judgmerthat Defendant violated the permit by failing to conduct and/or documer
visual monitoring during the fourth quarter of 2005 and the third quarter of 2006.

Plaintiff also contends that Defendant violated the permit by failing to monitor each
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dischargdocations at least once annually during a precipitation event in 2005, 2006, 2007
and 2009. (Dkt. No. 73 at 18.) Plaintiff supports its allegation with Defendant’s deposition
testimony that indicates that Defendant has no documentation of the morutfoenvery catch
basin in its facilityin 2005 through 2009, as well as Defendant’s visual monitoring records,
which do not include any evidence of inspections of each catch basin occurring. (Dkt.6No
at 132, 134-35, 137, 139-40; Dkt. No.Jat 2-47.)It is apparent that Plaintiff is interpreting
the permit’'s requirement to monitor every “discharge location” to mean thatd@efewas
required to monitor every catch basin. However, Defendant contests thaiatefinid the
permit does not further define the phrase. A dispute of fact exists, so the CounegleTijrant
summary judgment.

Plaintiff further alleges that Defendant violated the permit by nedecting the requireg
dry season inspection in 2008 and 2009. (Dkt. No. 18.) As evidence, Plaintiff points to
Defendant’s deposition testimony that it has no documentation indicating that $esadon
inspections occurred in 2008 or 2009. (Dkt. No. 75-6 at 136, 138.) Defendant contests thi
allegation, saying that dry season inspections were conducted, but Defendant diesnyt c
evidence or documentation to support its position. (Dkt. No. 82 aD&Pendant failed to meet
its burden of showing that a genuine factual dispute exists. The Court grants suntgargmt.

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant violated the permit because Defendant’s visual
monitoring records are signed only by outside consultants and not by a person asisSpgtié
permit. (Dkt. No. 73 at 18.) Defendant does not rebut this allegation. The Court grants sur
judgment.

5. Adaptive Management Requirements

The permit required differing levels of response—Level One, Two, or Thfee—
quarterly sampling results were above a beraskmalue or parameteiSde Dkt. No. 743 at
17-30.) At a Level One Response, the permit required an inspection of the fac{llly to:

evaluate possible sources of the benchmark parameter; (2) evaluate souct@edntr
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operational control methods tadiece stormwater contamination; and (3) evaluate whether any

improvements or changes of the SWRRPewarranted. Id. at 25.) The permit required that t
results of the inspection, including any remedial actions taken, be summarizedcacdmplhe
SWPHP. (d.)

A Level Two Responseequired the permittee to: (1) promptly identify the potential
sources of contamination; (2) investigate all available options of source contrakjames
control, and stormwater treatment BMPs to reduce contamination levels to beldwniaekc

values; (3) implement additional source control and operational BMPs idenfdf)gutepare a

level two source control report outlining actions taken, planned and any scheduled; and (5

submit the report to Ecology within six monthigl. @t 19.)

A Level Three Response required the permittee to: (1) promptiyifigéhe potential
sources of contamination; (2) investigate all available options of source contrakjames
control, and stormwater treatment BMPs to reduce stormwatégrminate levels to or below t
benchmark values; (3) implement additional source control, operational control, anaatinmn
treatment BMPs identified as part of the investigation within twelve months of initiating th¢
response; (4) prepare a level three source control report outlining actions takerd,@adne
scheduled, and (5) submit the report to Ecology within twelve monthsThe permittee could
request a waiver from employing stormwater treatment BMPs, but the \haid¢obe
submitted to Ecology within three months of initiating the responséaahdoinclude an
explanation of why the BMPsereinfeasibleandnot necessary for compliancéd.(at 19-20.)

a. First Quarter of 2006

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant triggeree@ thevel One Response for the first quarter
2006, but that Defendant violated the permit by not fulfilling the Level One Response
requirements. (Dkt. No. 73 at 2®)aintiff alleges that Defendant violated the permit becaus
did not include a summaiy its SWPPP of the additional BMPs it implemented as a result

Level One Response. (Dkt. No. 73 at 20.) Defendant does not respond to this allegation 3
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not shown that a genuine issue for trial exiS¢e.Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2). The Couragts
summary judgment.

Plaintiff further alleges that Defendant violated the permit bededetter to Ecology
describing its Level One Response actions was not signed in accordance with the permit
requirements. (Dkt. No. 73 at 20he permit requirethat all information sent to Ecology be
signed and certified by the appropriate authortbge Okt. No. 745 at 2-3.) The letter to
Ecology is signed by an outside consultant who was not a “duly authorized represér(tee

Dkt. No. 75-5 at 2.) However, the letter is not purported to be from Defendant, and the Le

One Response makes no indication that Defendant was required to send a letter tp or noti

Ecology at all beyond including results in its SWPPP. Accordingly, the Court d&aiesiff
summary judgment.
b. Third Quarter of 2007
Plaintiff alleges that Defendant triggerad.evel Two Response in the third quarter of

2007, but that Defendant did not comply with the permit requirements. (Dkt. No. 73 at 21.

vel

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant violated the permit by not including in its SWPPP the additional

BMPs, such amcreased inspection frequerayd increased sweepingstated in its letter that
it was going to implement as a result of the Level Two Response. (Dkt. No. 73 Befzhjlant
does not respond to this allegation and has not shown that a genuine issue for tri&kexists
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2). The Court grants Plaintiff summary judgment.
Further,Defendant testified that “available information” indicates that it did not dgtu
implement the sweeping BMP, as it stated it would do in its letter to Ecology. (Dkt. Maoat75
156.) Plaintiff alleges that Defendant thus violated the permit by not implementing its Levq
Response. (Dkt. No. 73 at 21.) However, Defendant magthat it directed its maintenance
shop personnel to increase sweeping frequency and cites to its deposition testdivaniyg
that such a request was made. (Dkt. No. 75-6 at 156.) A factual dispute exists. TideGiesrt

summary judgment.
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Plaintiff alleges that Defendant further violated the permit by failing to investigate
stormwater treatment BMPs as part of its Level Two Response. (Dkt. No. 73 Befdnjlant’s
testimony indicated that it did not investigate that possibility. (Dkt. Né& @655.) The permit
specifically requires such an investigation in Level Two Responses. (Dkt. No.t28.3 a
Defendant does not respond to this allegation and has not shown that a genuine isabe fo
exists.See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2). The Court graBtaintiff summary judgment.

Plaintiff further alleges that Defendant violated the permit, because the letter sent |
Ecology regarding the Level Two Response was not signed in accordancemmith pe
requirements. (Dkt. No. 78 at 215owever, as beforeghe letter is not purported to be sent by
Defendant and the permit does not require Defendant to send a letter to Ecolegg, Ins
Defendant was required to send a source control report to Ecology within six momiltigtirigy
the Level Two Response. Plaintiff does not allege that the source control rapomipvoperly
signed. The Court denies summary judgment.

c. Fourth Quarter of 2007

Plaintiff alleges that, in the fourth quarter of 2007, Defendant triggered a Leweel T
Response for copper and lead and a Level One Response for turbidity and zinc, but that
Defendant failed to comply with these requirements. (Dkt. No. 73 at 22.) Plailegféslthat
Defendant’s letter to Ecology that it claims described its fulfilment of the response requirg
was deficient in meeting the Level Two Response requirements for copper dngidga
Plaintiff asserts that the letter only acknowledges that the facility is at a LeeeR&sponse fof
copper and lead, but that Defendant made no effort to identify the sources of copped and
contamination as required by the permii.)(The letter mentions that an elevated metals
concentration might be the resulttbé removal of a filter and increased sweep(Bee Dkt. No.
755 at 78.) Defendant maintains thatdke statements applied to the copper and lead level
and, thus, the letter identified the sources of contamination. (Dkt. No. 75-6 at 159-61.) A

dispute existsandthe Court declines to exercise summary judgment.
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Plaintiff also asserts that Defendant failed to investigate stormwater treatment BMIPs as

the permit required for a Level Two Response.) Plaintiff points to Defendant’s deposition

testimony, where Marsi Beeson staiiest, based on the available documents, Defendant digl not

investigate the possibility of stormwater treatment BMPs. (Dkt. N& &5163.)Defendant
does not respond to this allegation and has not shown that a genuine issue for tri&kexists
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2). The Court grants Plaintiff summary judgment.

Plaintiff asserts that Defendant actually removed a BMP rather than implementing
additional BMPs during its Level Two Response. (Dkt. No. 73 atT2#)BMP removed was a
catch basin filter(ld.) Defendant maintains that it removed the filter becausen wiefilter was
regularly removed for sampling, it disturbed the collected sediment and biasedhfite sa
results. (Dkt. No. 82 at 18.) Defendant states that it removed the one filter inramoeskecure
more accurate sample resultsl A factual dspute exists as to whether this violated the per
The Court declines to exercise summary judgment.

Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant violated the permit by having Marsi Beeson si(
letter to Ecology. (Dkt. No. 73 at 22.) Ms. Beeson was not a duly authorized represeaftatiy
Defendant. (Dkt. No. 75-6 at 158.) Accordingly, the Court grants summary judgment that
Defendant violated the permit by having only Ms. Beeson sign the letter togicol

d. First Quarter of 2008

Plaintiff alleges that, in thirst quarter of 2008, Defendant triggered a Level Three
Response for turbidity and zinc and a Level One Response for copper and lead, but that
Defendant made no effort to comply with the permit requirements for those resgbhkseNo.
73 at 23.)A Level Three Response explicitly requires implementation of additional BMRE.
No. 743 at 19.) Stormwater treatment BMPs were required unless the permittee requestsg

Ecology granted a waiverd) Plaintiff alleges that Defendant failed to condugt emaluation

or implementatiorwhatsoever badditional operational, sourcentrol, and treatment BMPs as

part of its Level Three Response to reduce contamination of discHakyeIdintiff points to
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Defendant’s letter to Ecology that makes no mention of the investigation or inmégioe of
additional BMPs. (Dkt. No. 75-5 at 10-11.) Additionally, Defendant’s deposition testimony
indicates that it did not investigate additional BMPs after the Level TResponse. (Dkt. No.

75-6 at 169—70.) Additionally, Defendant did not request a waiver from employing st@mwat

treatment BMPs. (Dkt. No. 75-6 at 172.) Defendant does not respond to these allegationg and has

not shown that a genuine issue for trial exiSte.Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2).The Court grants

summary judgment.

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant violated the permit because only Marsi Beeson sighed its

letter to Ecology. (Dkt. No. 75-5 at 10.) Ms. Beeson was not a duly authorized represeaftati
Defendant. (Dkt. No. 75-6 at 158.) Accordingly, the Court grants summary judgment that
Defendant violated the permit by having only Ms. Beeson sign the letter togigcol
1. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasorthe Court GRANTS Plaintiff's first motion for partial
summary judgment (Dkt. No. 72) and GRANTSPART and DENIES IN PART Plaintiff's
second motion for partial summary judgment (Dkt. No. 73.)

DATED this 19th day of August 2011.

L CCl

J6hn C. Coughenour/
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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